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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

In the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina, the Louisiana Department of Education has 
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afforded to their peers who lack disabilities, and they can no longer wait to seek an end to the 

State Defendants’ neglect and inaction.   

The breadth and extent of the State Defendants’ violations of the rights of students with 

disabilities is reflected in Plaintiffs’ seven proposed subclasses.  Each subclass contends that a 

single policy or practice of the State Defendants has resulted in widespread violations of rights 

guaranteed by the IDEA, Section 504, or Title II.  Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court 

certify their proposed subclasses.  

PROCEDURAL POSTURE 
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Under Wal-Mart, the commonality inquiry focuses on the uniformity of the defendant’s 

actions or inactions.  131 S. Ct. at 2551.  In cases involving the rights of individuals with 

disabilities, commonality is demonstrated where the defendant acts or fails to act in a way 

uniformly affecting the entire class, regardless of inevitable variations in the types and severity 

of disability among class members.  See, e.g., Lane v. Kitzhaber, 283 F.R.D. 587, 597 (D. Or. 
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has “the zeal and competence” to represent the class, that the proposed class representative 

demonstrates “the willingness and ability” to take an active role in and control the litigation, and 

that no “conflicts of interest [exist] between the 
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issue of class certification, specifically commonality, for a proposed class of 12,000 children 

alleging systemic failures and structural deficiencies in Texas’ foster care system.  M.D., 675 

F.3d 832.  While the Fifth Circuit denied certification of what it described as the plaintiffs’ 

“‘amorphous’ super-claim,” the court expressed approval for certification through the use of 

subclasses, expressly adopting the approach followed by the Second Circuit in Marisol A. v. 

Giuliani, 126 F.3d 372 (2d Cir. 1997).  See M.D., 675 F.3d at 848-49.  In that case, the Second 
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SUBCLASS 3: Present and future New Orleans students who have requested but not been 

provided with a special education evaluation and instead given a Section 

504 Plan.   

Representative Plaintiffs: P.B., A.J., D.T., and K.J. 

 
SUBCLASS 4: Present and future New Orleans students with disabilities attending RSD 

direct-run or Type 5 charter schools who have been or will be removed for 

more than 10 days in a school year without the timely provision of the 

disciplinary safeguards required by the IDEA. 

Representative Plaintiffs: D.B., L.M., and L.W. 

 

SUBCLASS 5: Present and future New Orleans students with disabilities who have not or 

will not be provided a related service that is contained in their 

Individualized Education Programs (IEPs).   

 Representative Plaintiffs: N.F. and L.M. 

 

SUBCLASS 6: Present and future New Orleans students with disabilities who have been 
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570 F. Supp. 2d 28, 34-35 (D.D.C. 2008).  Moreover, it is well-established that parents have a 

cause of action to enforce this obligation under the IDEA.  Forest Grove Sch. Dist. v. T.A., 557 

U.S. 230, 245 (2009).   

While SEAs typically delegate the execution of specific Child Find activities to local 

educational agencies (“LEAs”), this does not relieve the State Defendants of the ultimate 

statutory responsibility to ensure that Child Find is implemented.  See Forest Grove Sch. Dist., 

557 U.S. at 245 (2009) (quoting 20 U.S.C. § 1412(a)); Schaffer v. Weast, 546 U.S. 49, 53 (2005); 

Hawkins ex rel. D.C. v. District of Columbia, 539 F. Supp. 2d 108, 113-14 (D.D.C. 2008).    

The State Defendants have abdicated their affirmative Child Find responsibilities for 

New Orleans students in three ways: (1) by failing to implement a comprehensive Child Find 

policy that ensures that a single New Orleans entity is responsible for identifying and evaluating 

students transitioning between schools or are not enrolled in a school; (2) by enforcing a policy, 

in contravention of the IDEA, requiring students to complete a “Response to Intervention” 

program before being evaluated for special education eligibility; and (3) by documenting and 
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subclass not being identified, located, and evaluated in accordance with the IDEA.  Classwide 

adjudication is appropriate because the subclass’s claims “depend upon [this] common 

contention” that is “capable of classwide resolution.”  Wal-Mart, 131 S. Ct. at 2551; M.D., 675 

F.3d at 838, 840. 

In a traditional school system, a single LEA (a school district) has jurisdiction and 

responsibility for conducting Child Find activities within a defined geographic area, including 

for those children who are not currently enrolled in a public school.  La. Bulletin 1706, § 230(A).  

It follows that if a child is referred for an evaluation but changes schools within the LEA’s 

geographic area, the LEA maintains responsibility for tracking the student, maintaining the open 

referral for evaluation, and ensuring the evaluation takes place.  Louisiana’s Child Find 

regulations follow this traditional arrangement, requiring each Louisiana LEA to “identify, 

locate, and evaluate each student suspected of having a disability (regardless of the severity of 

the disability) . . . residing within its jurisdiction.”  Id.   

In the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina, New Orleans’ school system has been transformed 

from a single LEA (the Orleans Parish School Board) to 62 LEAs, 60 of which are single-school 

charter LEAs.  These single-school LEAs’ Child Find responsibilities are geographically limited 

to “the boundary of the educational facility.”  Id. at § 230(D)(4).  This means that 60 of New 

Orleans’ 62 LEAs have no Child Find jurisdiction beyond their schoolhouse doors.  Id.; see also 

Ex. 2, Hicks Dep. 108:11-20.  The remaining two LEAs—the RSD and OPSB—have no clearly 

defined geographical boundaries and no clear division of Child Find responsibilities outside of 

their own direct-run schools, leaving a void of responsibility for students transitioning between 

schools or not enrolled in school.  Ex. 3, Cook 30(b)(6) Dep. 130:11-22, 134:1-8; Ex. 4, Bendily 

30(b)(6) Dep. 174:19-175:4; see also Ex. 14, Howarth Exp. Rpt. at 34-38; Ex. 15, Mead Exp. 
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“systemic,” stating: “For some charter schools, the
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14, Howarth Exp. Rep. at 42.  The State Defendants have stated that “any counts that vary a lot 

from these [statewide identification] percentages are worrisome to us.”  Ex. 12. Thus, the lower 

rate of New Orleans students with disabilities supports an inference that special education under-

identification is occurring, and affecting a sizeable population of students. 

 Additionally, students in New Orleans transition between LEAs at very high rates.   Ex. 

19 at 17.
2
  Overall, 25 LEAs saw at least 20% of their student population transition out between 

the 2011-2012 and the 2012-2013 school years, meaning that they either enrolled in a new LEA 

or were simply not enrolled in a New Orleans public school.  Some schools reported particularly 

high transition numbers.  For example, at John McDonogh Charter School, approximately 240 

students (62%) did not reenroll, and, at Joseph S. Clark Charter School, approximately 240 

students (63%) did not re-enroll.  Id. at H140-141, H156-H157.   Based on the number of 

unidentified students in New Orleans and the number of children who transfer between LEAs, 

the “common sense assumption” is that this subclass is sufficiently numerous to satisfy Rule 
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statewide Child Find regulatory scheme that, on its face, violates the rights of unenrolled and 

transitioning students in the decentralized New Orleans system.  The representative Plaintiffs’ 

claims raise the following common contentions that are capable of classwide resolution: 

(1) Whether the State Defendants have failed to promulgate and enforce a Child Find 

policy to ensure that every child with a disability in New Orleans who is not in 

school or who is transitioning between LEAs is identified, located, and evaluated. 

 

(2) Whether the State Defendants’ failure to promulgate and enforce a uniform Child 

Find policy has resulted in the subclass members being denied the opportunity to 

be identified, located, and evaluated. 

 

The State Defendants’ failure to promulgate a comprehensive Child Find policy for New 

Orleans’ unique decentralized structure is the “glue” uniting the subclass’s factual and legal 

claims.   See Wal-Mart, 131 S. Ct. at 2552; see also M.D., 675 F.3d at 847 (holding that “a 

pattern or practice of agency action or inaction – including a failure to correct a structural 

deficiency within the agency” is sufficient to generate a common class claim). 

 Furthermore, resolution of these common contentions does not require individualized 

determinations about the Plaintiffs’ eligibility for special education.  Rather, the proposed class 

members have all suffered the same injury: they have been deprived of the very opportunity to be 

identified and evaluated after making such a request, because no one entity ensures that this 

occurs.  This injury can be remedied through a single injunction ordering the State Defendants to 

develop a comprehensive Child Find policy ensuring that at least one entity has responsibility to 
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transition among LEAs are located and evaluated.  See Lane, 283 F.R.D. at 602.     

B. “Response to Intervention” Subclass 

 Plaintiffs request that this Court certify a subclass of present and future New Orleans 

students who have requested but not been provided with a special education evaluation because 

they have not completed a “Response to Intervention” program.  Plaintiffs P.B. and A.J. are the 

named representatives for this subclass.  The claim common to the subclass is that the State 

Defendants have promulgated a policy, in contravention of the IDEA, requiring students to 

complete a “Response to Intervention” (“RTI”) program before receiving an evaluation for 

special education eligibility.  This policy prevents New Orleans students from receiving the 

special education evaluations to which they are entitled under the IDEA. 

 RTI is a general education program to provide research-based interventions for struggling 

students who are failing to respond to traditional classroom instruction.  See generally Michael 

P. v. Dep’t of Educ., 656 F.3d 1057, 1061 (9th Cir. 2011).  Most RTI models involve three 
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 Despite the IDEA’s clear Child Find mandate and OSEP’s guidance to the contrary,
3
 

Louisiana has a policy explicitly requiring students to participate in the RTI process before 

receiving an initial evaluation for special education.  La. Bulletin 1508, § 305(A)(1).  

Specifically, Louisiana’s policy states that each LEA “shall identify a student . . . as suspected of 

having a disability only after the student has participated in an RTI process that produces 

sufficient data for the [School Building Level Committee] to recommend that a comprehensive 

individual evaluation be conducted . . . .”  La. Bulletin 1508, § 305(A)(1) (emphasis added).
4
  

The effect of this policy is that New Orleans students with disabling conditions often languish 

for months, if not years, in the RTI process without being evaluated in accordance with the 

IDEA—and have their requests for IDEA evaluations denied while this process runs its course. 

 LDOE enforces, and New Orleans LEAs implement, this unlawful policy:   

• A March 2011 LDOE newsletter to school districts states that LDOE “ha[s] received 

many inquiries from parents whose children have medical diagnosis [sic] and the school 

districts refuse to evaluate until the students have progressed through all tiers of 

interventions.”  The newsletter simply advises LEAs to more fully engage in RTI “as 

some students show limited response and progress through the process.”  In tacit 

acknowledgement of the policy’s conflict with the IDEA, LDOE explains that “fully 

engaged parents are highly unlikely to move against districts for failure to comply with 

the IDEA.”  Ex. 21, at 40. 

 

• LDOE’s RTI Coordinator stated in an e-mail that “we are in agreement that it would be 

inappropriate to waive the RTI process requirement . . . unless the [school building level 

committee] team has strong evidence to indicate that the student has a low incidence 

disability.” Ex. 22.   

 

• The RSD’s RTI policy states that after “interventions have been implemented with 

integrity for the prescribed period of time . . . without effective results, the team may 

                                                 
3
 When OSEP promulgated its guidance about unlawful RTI policies, Bernell Cook, LDOE’s Director of 

NCLB & IDEA programs, forwarded it to other LDOE section leaders with the explanation that the 
policy guidance was “an interesting memo” and to “share [it] as you deem necessary.”  Ex. 20. 
 
4
 Louisiana’s policy relaxes the RTI mandate only for “low incidence disabilities,” like hearing and visual 

impairments or traumatic brain injuries, by permitting, but not requiring, an immediate evaluation.  La. 
Bulletin 1508, § 307(B). 
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examine the appropriateness of referring the student for an evaluation for special 

education services.” Ex. 23 at DEF00083897.  As a result, 45% of the RSD’s students 

languish in the most intensive tier of RTI, Tier III – despite the  RSD’s recognition that 

the ideal rate is of students in Tier III no more than 5%.  Ex. 24 at DEF00284804.   

 

Compounding the harm to children in the proposed subclass, RTI is not properly 

implemented in New Orleans, as evidenced by a report from the Louisiana Special Education 
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Orleans students will be referred to the RTI process.
5
  Ex. 26 at 22.  And as noted above, 45% of 

RSD students in the RTI process are in Tier III, and best practice indicates that the Tier III 

students are those most likely in need of an IDEA evaluation.
6
  Thus, a “common sense 

assumption” is that of the many hundreds of New Orleans students in RTI, including those 

languishing in Tier III without an IDEA referral, well over 40 students are entitled to, but have 

not received, a special education evaluation.  See Susan J., 254 F.R.D. at 458; R.P.-K. ex rel. 

C.K., 272 F.R.D. at 547-48. Moreover, the proposed subclass includes future, unknown students 

making joinder impracticable.  See Jack, 498 F.2d at 124; Jones, 519 F.2d at 1100.   

2. 
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its IDEA evaluation policy. Wal-Mart, 131 S. Ct. at 2551.   

3. Typicality 

 The claims of the representative Plaintiffs P.B. and A.J. are typical of the proposed 

subclass, in that all have been similarly denied a special education evaluation while they are 

required to complete the RTI process.  This injury stems from a single policy, and thus the 
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 The IDEA and Section 504 are complementary statutes in that they both set obligations 

upon public schools for students with disabilities. However, the key difference is that IDEA 

eligibility extends to students whose disabilities adversely affect their academic performance; 

Section 504 sets no such standard.  Furthermore, the statutes have different goals, and different 

substantive and procedural requirements.  As described infra at p. 41, Section 504 is an anti-

discrimination statute with the principal objective of ensuring that individuals with disabilities 

receive the same treatment as those without disabilities, free of the “prejudiced attitudes or 

ignorance of others.” School Bd. of Nassau Cty. v. Arline, 480 U.S. 273, 284 (1987).  See also 29 

U.S.C. § 794; Traynor v. Turnage, 485 U.S. 535, 548 (1988); Chandler v. City of Dallas, 2 F.3d 
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the statutory scheme, the school district is not free to choose which statute it prefers . . . If a 

student is eligible under IDEA, appropriate services . . . shall be provided.”  Yankton Sch. Dist. v. 

Schramm, 93 F.3d 1369, 1376 (8th Cir. 1996).  The SEA bears ultimate responsibility for 

ensuring that LEAs are complying with the IDEA’s Child Find requirements, which includes 

ensuring that LEAs are not disregarding these obligations in favor of the less rigorous and lower-

cost Section 504 eligibility process.  Ex. 28, Batson Dep. 227:16-20. 

The State Defendants have wholly abdicated their monitoring and compliance 

responsibilities with respect to the proposed subclass.  The State Defendants only monitor the 

timeliness with which LEAs complete special education evaluations; they do not monitor 

whether students with disabilities are ever identified or located in the first place.  Ex. 3, Cook 

30(b)(6) Dep. 132:3-18, 133:4-12, 141:20-143:22; Ex. 27, Boulton 30(b)(6) Dep. 77:8-25, 79:20-

80:10. 

 The State Defendants have long been on notice that New Orleans LEAs systemically 

over-rely on Section 504 Plans to avoid providing required special education evaluations:   

• A 2008 report by the Educational Support Systems on 23 New Orleans charter schools 

found that “an astonishing number of 504 plans” had
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an astounding 41.2% of its students.  LDOE recognized that “[t]here appears to be a large 

[number] of RSD schools with very high numbers.” Id. at 1-3.   

 

Plaintiffs’ expert Dr. Howarth concluded that this improper over-reliance by New Orleans LEAs 

on Section 504 plans contributes to the systematic under-identification of New Orleans children 

under the IDEA.  Ex. 14, Howarth Exp. Rpt. at 43.  The experiences of the named Plaintiff 

representatives illustrate the problem: 

• 



 

24 
6370517v.1 

members, making joinder presumptively impracticable.   

2. Commonality 

 The proposed subclass satisfies the commonality requirement because its claims share a 

common contention: the State Defendants have failed to monitor or otherwise correct the New 

Orleans LEAs despite being on notice that New Orleans LEAs were inappropriately relying on 

Section 504 plans in lieu of conducting IDEA evaluations.  This inaction violates the State 

Defendants’ explicit obligation to ensure that students with disabilities are identified, located, 

and evaluated.  See supra p. 8.  “[C]ommon issues arise where ‘defendants have acted, or failed 

to act, uniformly toward the proposed class based on their policies and lack of policies in place.”  

N.B. ex rel. Buchanan v. Hamos, 2012 WL 1953146, at *9 (N.D. Ill. May 30, 2012).  

 LDOE’s failure to monitor and correct the systemic misuse of Section 504 Plans in New 

Orleans and to ensure compliance with IDEA’s Child Find mandates provides the “glue” uniting 

Plaintiffs’ factual and legal claims.  See Wal-Mart, 131 S. Ct. at 2552.  The subclass’s claims 

will also generate a common answer: with a single injunction, this Court can require the State 

Defendants to monitor New Orleans LEAs’ use of Section 504 Plans and ensure that Section 504 

Plans are not used as a substitute for conducting more rigorous IDEA evaluations.   

3. Typicality 

 Typicality is satisfied because the representative Plaintiffs P.B., A.J., D.T., and K.J. 
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4. Adequacy of Representation 

For the reasons stated at supra p. 15, the Plaintiffs and undersigned counsel will fairly 

and adequately protect the interests of the subclass.  Plaintiffs and the subclass possess an 

identical interest in the State Defendants monitoring New Orleans LEAs for their use of Section 

504 Plans and ensuring they have not been substituted for conducting IDEA evaluations. 

5. 23(b)(2) 

 Courts recognize that class treatment under Rule 23(b)(2) is particularly appropriate in 

cases such as this one that seek systemic reform of a governmental agency’s policies and 

practices.  See Jones v. Diamond
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Schools have historically used the disciplinary process to exclude or push out students for 

behavioral manifestations of their disabilities.  
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charter schools
9
 to provide these four disciplinary safeguards, but LDOE has failed to take 

meaningful remedial action.  As the result of on-site IDEA monitoring visits, LDOE cited the 

RSD direct-run schools for systemic
10

 non-compliance with the IDEA in the following areas:   

• 
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more than generous in not noting non-compliance.”  Ex. 39 (emphasis added).  At deposition, 

LDOE admitted this was improper.  Ex. 37, McElwee Dep. 117:1-13. 

The State Defendants required the RSD direct-run and Type 5 charter schools to 

implement three consecutive corrective action plans to address their widespread non-compliance 

with the IDEA’s disciplinary safeguards, but these LEAs continually failed to demonstrate 

improvement.
11

  See Ex. 33-35; see also Ex. 14, Howarth Exp. Rpt. at 53-58.  In fact, in February 

2012, LDOE noted, “Little progress has been made by
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RSD direct-run and Type 5 charters’ ongoing systemic noncompliance, the State Defendants 

drastically scaled back their IDEA monitoring activities and compliance measures.  First, LDOE 

reduced the scope of the Type 5 charters’ ICAP.  Originally, the ICAP applied to all Type 5 

charters in New Orleans.  Ex. 37, McElwee Dep. 138:3-17, 184:9-17, 187:7-16.  But in 2012, 

high-ranking LDOE officials simply decided, unilaterally and without discussion, that the ICAP 

would now apply only to the dozen individual charters that LDOE monitored on-site and cited 

for non-compliance.  Ex. 37, McElwee Dep. 186:9-187:21, 188:5-189:4.  This act removed over 

40 New Orleans LEAs from the scope of the intensive corrective action plan.  

Second, in the 2012-2013 school year, LDOE stopped its on-site IDEA monitoring 

program altogether, and now relies solely on paper-based reviews known as “desk audits” to 

satisfy its IDEA monitoring obligations.  Ex. 37, McElwee Dep. 180:3-24; Ex. 40, Osborn Dep. 

68:16-69:7. This newly adopted policy is in direct conflict with state regulations on IDEA 

compliance monitoring.
12

  A desk audit provides no evidence that procedural safeguards are 

actually implemented.  Ex. 37, McElwee Dep. 166:12-167:2; 167:13-22; Ex. 14, Howarth Exp. 

Rpt. at 58-60.  In switching to a desk audit system, LDOE special education staff noted that a 

benefit of removing on-site monitoring was to “alleviate a high volume of LEAs from going 

under CAPs.”  Ex. 41 at 2.    

Using a desk audit, LDOE cleared the RSD disciplina
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disciplinary safeguards amongst RSD direct-run and Type 5 charter LEAs.  For instance, the 

RSD direct-run and Type 5 charter LEAs implicated in the 2012-13 ICAP removed 244 students 

with disabilities through out-of-school suspensions during the 2010-11 school year.  Ex. 43.  And 

in determining ongoing non-compliance in February 2012, LDOE relied upon 69 student records 

and cited over one hundred student violations based on those records.  Ex. 36, DEF00474939-

950.  Thus, the proposed subclass, which includes unknown future members, is sufficiently 

numerous to render joinder impracticable.   

2. Commonality 
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student with a disability who has been removed more than ten days in a school year, and thus 

resolution of the subclass’s claim does not require individualized determinations.  

3. Typicality 

The proposed subclass satisfies the typicality requirement because named Plaintiffs D.B., 

L.M., and L.W. have suffered the same injury as the proposed subclass—deprivation of the 

IDEA’s disciplinary safeguards—and share a common interest in ensuring that the State 

Defendants comply with their duty to rectify the systemic failures to provide such safeguards in 



 

33 
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also Doe v. Maher, 793 F.2d 1470 (9th Cir. 1986);  Todd D., 933 F.2d 1582.   

In this case, the State Defendants have orchestrated the creation of 62 independent LEAs 

in a compact urban area, leaving each LEA fully responsible to directly provide all related 

services contemplated under the law.  See Kruelle v. New Castle Cnty. Sch. Dist., 642 F.2d 687, 

695-96 (3d Cir. 1981).  A typical school district benefits from economies of scale, spreading 

costs and organizing services across multiple schools. See Robert A. Garda, Culture Clash: 

Special Education in Charter Schools, 90 N.C. L. Rev. 655, 670 (March 2012).  However, each 

individual New Orleans LEA, with limited staff and resources, must be able to provide the full 

array of related services for any student with a disability who enrolls on any given day.  Garda, 

90 N.C. L. Rev. at 677.  State Defendants are fully aware that the delivery and availability of 

related services in the New Orleans LEAs presents a significant problem:  
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N.F. and L.M. have experienced these problems:  

• Plaintiff N.F.’s IEP called for orientation and mobility services and a dedicated 
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by the Defendants’ inaction: by not receiving one or more related services that their IEP team 

determined was necessary. As described above, Plaintiffs’ requested injunctive and declaratory 

relief addresses the claims common to the subclass. 

IV. THE COURT SHOULD CERTIFY PLAINTIFFS’ TWO PROPOSED 
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 A student with a disability can establish a claim under Section 504 and Title II in the 

educational context by showing that he has been denied “reasonable accommodations” necessary 

“to receive the full benefits of the school program.” Stewart, 711 F.3d at 519.  It is immaterial 

whether the public entity explicitly refused to make reasonable accommodations or simply 

engaged in “professionally unjustifiable conduct.” Id. at 521.  Such professionally unjustifiable 

conduct includes both affirmative acts and the failure to act.  Id. at 526.  

The State Defendants have failed to comply with their responsibilities under Section 504 

and Title II in two ways: (1) the State Defendants have failed to ensure that New Orleans schools 

comply with the anti-discrimination mandates of Section 504 and Title II in the school 

enrollment process; and (2) the State Defendants, who control the buildings and the land upon 

which the vast majority of New Orleans schools operate, have failed to remedy the systemic, 

structural barriers inhibiting students with mobility-related disabilities from accessing those 
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As a public recipient of federal funds, the State D
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have authorized individual New Orleans charter-LEAs to make independent enrollment 

decisions, which in turn enables LEAs to deny or discourage students with disabilities from 

applying.  Parents of students with disabilities are significantly disadvantaged by this system and 

are forced to visit multiple schools in order to find an LEA that is willing to accept and is 

capable of serving their child.  Ex. 49. 

The State Defendants have perpetuated the discrimin
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case basis, leaving the goal of parish-wide non-discriminatory enrollment unresolved.  Plaintiffs’ 

expert Dr. Howarth reviewed the record of enrollment discrimination complaints and State 

Defendants’ actions, and concluded that New Orleans LEAs can turn away or discourage 

students from applying with impunity, because “by nature (and very likely by design), many 

instances of this type of discrimination go unreported.”   Ex. 14, Howarth Exp. Rpt. at 62.   

Furthermore, the State Defendants perpetuate discriminatory enrollment practices by 

failing to ensure that New Orleans LEAs provide the same educational options to students with 

disabilities as are provided to general education students.  Specifically, Plaintiffs’ expert Dr. 

Julie Mead concluded that the State has failed to ensure uniformity in the availability of special 

education and related services, which increases incidents of LEA discriminatory enrollment 

practices. Ex. 15, Mead Exp. Rpt. at 41-43.  Finding significance in the low charter enrollment of 

the most severely disabled children, Dr. Mead found a correlation with charter control over 

programming and the “patchwork of readily available services” in the New Orleans charter 

LEAs.  Id. at 42-43. Parents seeking enrollment will discover that a New Orleans charter LEA 

does not have available the related services required for their children, which in turn causes the 

charter to inform inquiring parents they are not cu
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complaints is likely far less than the number of children who have actually experienced 

discrimination.  Ex. 14, Howarth Exp. Rpt. at 62.  Based on these numbers, a “common sense 

assumption” is that this subclass is sufficiently numerous to satisfy Rule 23(a)(1).  Susan J., 254 

F.R.D. at 458. 

Furthermore, joinder is impracticable because the proposed subclass includes an 

unknown number of future members and a rotating membership, as students must annually seek 

enrollment or re-enrollment in a New Orleans LEA.  See, e.g. Jack, 498 F.2d at 124; J.D. v. 

Nagin, 255 F.R.D. at 414.   

2. Commonality 

The State Defendants have failed to adequately monitor New Orleans LEAs’ compliance 

with Section 504 and Title II, and have failed to promulgate and enforce corresponding policies 

and practices to ensure LEA compliance.  Thus, the 
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discrimination as they attempt to apply or enroll in New Orleans schools.  See Wal-Mart, 131 S. 

Ct. at 2552.   

3. Typicality 

The claims of Plaintiffs P.B., N.F., and M.M. are typical of the subclass because they 

have suffered the same injury: denial of equal access to public education in New Orleans on the 

basis of disability.  Students within this subclass can only attend the schools in New Orleans 

willing to enroll them.  In fact, the named Plaintiffs’ experiences mirror the complaints received 

by State Defendants from New Orleans families of students with disabilities.  See supra p. 42.  

4. Adequacy of Representation 

For the reasons stated at supra p. 15, the Plaintiffs and undersigned counsel will fairly 

and adequately protect the interests of the subclass.  Plaintiffs and the subclass possess an 

identical interest in the State Defendants ensuring that New Orleans LEAs maintain non-

discriminatory enrollment practices. 

5. 23(b)(2) 

 The State Defendants have acted on grounds generally applicable to the class, thereby 

making final injunctive and corresponding declaratory relief appropriate for the class as a whole.  

Plaintiffs and the proposed subclass do not seek monetary damages or individualized injunctive 

relief.  Instead, Plaintiffs request that the Court order the State Defendants to develop a plan for 

monitoring and enforcing New Orleans LEA compliance with Section 504 and Title II. 

B. “Physical Accessibility” Subclass 

Plaintiffs request that this Court certify a subclass of present and future New Orleans 

students with mobility impairments who have been or will be denied access to the programs and 

services of a New Orleans LEA as a result of structural or architectural barriers.  For purposes 

of class certification, students with mobility impairments are those students who use wheelchairs, 
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available to other children.  Ex. 69 at 13.  The manual further states that where “schools offering 

different curricula or instruction techniques are available, the range of choice provided to 

students with disabilities must be comparable to that offered to other students.”  Id.  Moreover, 

“the apparent lack of students with disabilities in a school district’s service area does not excuse 

the school district from taking whatever appropriate steps are necessary to ensure that its 

programs, services, and activities are accessible to qualified individuals with disabilities.”  Id. at 

21.     

Here, the State Defendants have created a public education system in New Orleans in 

which over 60 schools serve as stand-alone, independent LEAs with no ascertainable geographic 

service area.  (Compl. ¶¶ 32-35.)  By abolishing a unitary school system to create a system of 60 

independent LEAs, the State can no longer scatter wheelchair-accessible schools throughout a 

single New Orleans service area.  The State Defendants have an affirmative obligation to ensure 

that each LEA in New Orleans is accessible by students with limited mobility. 

Furthermore, the State Defendants authorized each of these independent LEAs to offer a 

unique educational program, with a variety of specialized curricula in areas such as science, 

technology, business, or the arts.  By definition, these charter schools “have complete autonomy 

over their budget, the hiring and firing of staff, programs, curriculum, schedule and all other 

operations of the school.”  Ex. 60.  Because these schools each offer “different curricula or 

instruction techniques,” the State is obligated to ensure that “the range of choice provided to 

students with disabilities [is] comparable to that offered to other students.”  Ex. 69 at 13.   

The State Defendants have centralized decision-making control with respect to the 

physical accessibility of most New Orleans school facilities.  Not only have the State Defendants 

devised and implemented the current system, they also control the buildings and the land upon 
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which all schools in New Orleans, with the exception of the OPSB schools, operate.  Under the 
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Even a cursory look at the New Orleans Parents’ Guide to Public Schools: Spring 2013 

Edition, sponsored in part by LDOE and the RSD, illustrates the drastically limited school 

options for students with mobility impairments.
16

  See Ex.19.   According to the Guide, over half 

of the Type 5 charter schools in New Orleans, representing 30 LEAs, are inaccessible to students 

with mobility impairments, as are all Type 2 charter schools in the Parish.  The Guide further 

indicates that there are no RSD direct-run schools (the only State-run schools in New Orleans 

without enrollment caps
17

) accessible to students with mobility impairments.  

The experience of named Plaintiff M.M. provides a telling example of how the State 

Defendants’ failures have affected the proposed class: 

• Plaintiff M.M., identified under the IDEA as a student with “multiple disabilities,” is 

non-ambulatory, requiring the use of wheelchair.  M.M.’s mother visited six different 

schools that were near her home in an attempt to identify an accessible school.  On 

multiple occasions, she was told that the school did not have any experience or was 

otherwise ill-equipped to serve M.M.  At one school, Lafayette Academy, M.M.’s mother 
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1. Numerosity 

This subclass is sufficiently numerous to make joinder impracticable.  According to the 

State Defendants’ 2010 data, 86 students in New Orleans public schools were identified as 

students with “orthopedic impairments” under the IDEA, and an additional 60 students were 

identified as students with “multiple disabilities” under the IDEA, such as representative Plaintiff 

M.M.
18

  Ex. 48.  The putative class also includes students with physical impairments that do not 

adversely affect educational performance, thus qualifying them as students with disabilities 

under Section 504 but not under the IDEA, including children who use wheelchairs, walkers, or 



 

52 
6370517v.1 

denied the benefits of the services, programs, and activities of the New Orleans LEAs.   The 

claims of the representative Plaintiff and the proposed subclass share the following common 

questions of law and fact capable of classwide resolution: 

(1) 



 

53 
6370517v.1 

subclass are not provided a range of school choice comparable to that offered to New Orleans 

students without mobility impairments.  Moreover, this common injury is directly traceable to 

the same course of conduct: the State Defendants’ systemic failure to remedy access barriers or 

otherwise ensure that the range of school choice provided to students with mobility impairments 

is comparable to that offered to other students.  “Indeed, in a public accommodations suit . . . 

where disabled persons challenge the legal permissibility of architectural design features, the 



 

54 
6370517v.1 

New Orleans LEAs rendering them inaccessible to students with mobility impairments.  (Compl. 

¶¶ 195-96; Prayer for Relief ¶ 4.)   This relief applies to the subclass as a whole.  See Gray, 279 

F.R.D. at 521-22 (holding that multiple injunctions are not necessary to resolve plaintiffs’ 

accessibility claims under Section 504, rather a single injunction “could be formulated that 

would be sufficiently specific and would resolve the class claims”). 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court grant their motion 

for class certification and certify the proposed subclasses pursuant to Rule 23(b)(2) of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

   Case 2:10-cv-04049-JCZ-KWR   Document 220-1   Filed 08/08/13   Page 62 of 64



 

55 
6370517v.1 

 

Dated: August 2, 2013 

 

 

 

Jon Greenbaum, D.C. Bar No. 489887* 

Brenda L. Shum, Or. Bar No. 961146* 

LAWYERS’ COMMITTEE FOR 

   

Case 2:10-cv-04049-JCZ-KWR   Document 220-1   Filed 08/08/13   Page 63 of 64



 

56 
6370517v.1 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 I hereby certify that on August 2, 2013, a true an


